I

Table of Contents

Chapter I		Introduction	1
Chapter II		Runtime	2
Chapter III		Recipes	4
	1	Recipe Introduction	4
	2	Recipe Models	6
	3	Recipes Management	8
Chapter IV		Supervision	9
	1	Introduction	9
	2	Template	
	3	Alarms Status	14
	4	Events status	15
	5	Gates Status	16
	6	System status	
	7	Devices Status	19
	8	Historical Alarms	
	9	Historical Events	21
	10	User changes	21
	11	Multilanguage	22
	4.0	Introduction	
	12	Charts	
		Introduction	
		Group definition	
		Time Axis	
A I I I		Aspect	
Chapter V		Reports	29
	1	Introduction	
	2	How to Draw up a Report	
	3	How to Show a Historical Report	
Chapter VI		Macros	32
	1	Introduction	
Chapter VII		User access	32
	1	Introduction	
	2	Insertion of the Access Code	

П	Runtime	Guide

	3	Users definition	
	4	Groups definition	
	5	Definition of the Access rights to Pages	35
Chapter VIII		Windows Management	36
	1	Introduction	

1

1 Introduction



A supervision project is a software product that allows you to monitor and interact with a particular process in industrial and civil environment; eg. control processing steps of an industrial product, management of a home automation system, monitoring of the water levels of a water pipeline, supervision of a photovoltaic system, etc.

Runtime manages the execution of a supervision project. *Runtime* can be started by *Project Manager* by selecting the *Project | Run* menu item or by clicking directly on the icon:



in this case the default project will be executed, if there is one defined (refer to *Project Manager* help for more details about default project).

2 Runtime



The figure above shows an example of a main window with the parts that compose it. In details:

Pipes Simulation

1 Window caption

It displays the application title and icons to minimize, maximize it, or exit the program. The title bar can be hidden by the *Project Manager* option *Configuration | Options | Main Window | Window elements | Hide window caption*.

2 Main menu

File Edit Recipes Supervision Reports Macro Password Window Help

The main menu gives you access to all parts of the *Runtime*, including those involving diagnostics such as supervision of gates status: it is therefore useful during application testing, but tends not recommended in the final application. It can be hidden by the *Project Manager* option *Configuration* | options | Main Window | Window elements | Hide main menu.

3 Main template

- 0 -



It is the main synoptic (as in the example above): it can be automatically loaded at *Runtime* startup if it has been selected in *Project Manager - Configuration | Templates* option *Runtime* opens up to a maximum of 8 templates simultaneously. All open pages are updated continuously based on the current process status.

4 Toolbar



It has the same functions as the Main menu and can be hidden by the *Project Manager* option *Configuration | options | Main Window | Window elements | Toolbar position* The toolbar buttons provide direct access to the relevant pages with a simple click. The meaning of the icons is the following :

- we printer setup: allows to specify the printer to use
- rint: print the page currently shown
- 🕌 recipe: opens the page for the recipe management
- local system status: shows the system status
- device status: shows the devices status
- Solution of the status shows the gates status
- alarms status: shows the status of the alarms
- events status: shows the status of the events
- 6 historical alarms: shows the page with the history of the alarms
- historical events: shows the page with the history of the events

 ${igwed k}$ user changes: shows the page with the operations done by users

- ker chart: shows the page for the chart management
- ir multilanguage: allows to change the language of the application
- I make report: allows to create a report
- view report: allows to open a report
- As user access: allows to change user

A red exclamation mark beside the icon indicates an anomaly.

5 Alarms bar

The alarms bar shows the message of the last activated alarm. To eliminate these messages you have to confirm active or awaiting confirmation alarms, by opening the corresponding window. At the bottom right there are the present date and time, and the name of the last logged operator (current operator). All the operations involving some changes in the status of the supervised process, will be recorded with this name.

3 Recipes

3.1 Recipe Introduction

One of the main features of Runtime consists of the recipe management.

The recipes are a set of process variables (gates); they may represent a type of production or a particular configuration of the supervised process.

The first step for the construction of a recipe is the creation of a model. It is the set of all the variables that comprise the recipe.

These variables can be divided in groups.

After defining the recipes models needed to manage the process, you can create different recipes for each model in order to obtain different types of process operation.

¥.	Recipe Manager	
Recipe search		Next
Model	Récipe <u>V</u> iew	
Configuration recipes	Curve1	
Last recipe imported: C	urve2 [10/02/2016 12:53:11] urve1 [10/02/2016 12:53:00]	
LOSU ICUDE SEIL	anser finiserenin renamel.	

By selecting the *Recipes* | *Recipe management* menu item leads to the window above. This window shows the list of models on the left and on the right the recipe files belonging to the selected model.

At the top you can do a quick search for a particular recipe within the archive.

Pressing the *Model* button you have access to a popup menu showing all functions applicable to the recipe models, namely:

- New: creates a new model
- Delete: delete the selected recipe model and its recipes.
- Copy: make a copy of the selected model and the related recipes.
- Rename: rename the selected recipe model.
- Edit: opens the recipe model editing window (called also by double-clicking on the model name).

Pressing the *Recipe* button you have access to a popup menu that shows all the functions applicable to the recipes, namely:

- New: creates a new recipe based on the gates list contained in the selected model.
- **Delete**: delete the selected recipe.
- Copy: make a copy of the recipe.
- **Rename**: rename the recipe.
- Edit: opens the recipe edit window (also called by double click on the name of the recipe).
- Startup : specifies that the selected recipe must be sent automatically when you start the Runtime.

Pressing the *Display* button you have access to a popup menu showing the various display options of recipe files.

3.2 Recipe Models

This is the window that allows you to build a recipe model:

white port.	890000		
Gate Name S	Search	East Deningtion Search	
			F Norma
a	la .	IOncome	
		Contact and A. La Service and	
1	1.5	Telepinet 1 - Se per	
4	1.4	Tendential Tel Service	Add gen
#	. 6.	Tanganahan 25, Salayan	
#	6	Tangenature 15 Set part	1. Contract
e		Jenperature 17 - Set pore	10.0000
ŧ		Tangwisture 1/8 . Set poet	
t	19.1-	Tangoruture 53 Sat poet	
ti	N	Telepister 110, Set port	
<u>0</u> .	1	Teliperatura 11 - Read	
<u>0</u> .		Tentomotus E2 - Hout	
0		Transmission (Construction)	
P		Tanana a tana	
n		Technology 12 Road	
<u>n</u>	1	Terroritors 17 Beat	
0	1.8	Temperature 11, Read	
D .		Turpendus 73 Post	
0	10	Tangenature 110 - Read	
ese pro-		12213	
100	197	Desception	Trouge
SP.		Temperatura F1 - Set goars	
147. 147.		Temperature 12-10-2009	Delate part
59	24	Terror share 12 but here	- 122211070
10	5	Temperature 75 Temperature	
SP.		Temperature FS Text poex	
SP:	1.1	Temperature 17 - Let poer	
un		Temperature 10 - set point	
(F)	10	Imposed and TID. Set doord	

At the top you can see the list of all gates that belong to the application selected gate type (Numeric, Digital or String).

In the lower part shows the list of gates that have been associated with the selected recipe model.

In the case where in the recipe model are inserted gates that are not enabled to writing to the devices, a notice button will appear; pressing it will be shown the list of non-enabled write gates: however this is only a warning of a probable failure (usually the gates of a recipe should send the Set Points directly to the devices to which they refer), you can still insert in recipe model gates sampled "*Never*".

In order to allow greater clarity inside of a recipe model, gates can be organized in groups, in relation to their function, to the device with which they communicate, to the part of the plant on which they operate, etc..

The "*Groups*" button provides a popup menu with all the possible actions of the groups (create, delete, copy and rename).

Id December Image: Ima	Gate Name Search	1.1	Earl Description Search	
Main Main Manager Financial		-	in approximation in the second s	# Nates
art product 1 Construct 1 Construct 1 art product 1 Construct 1 1 1 <t< th=""><th>-</th><th>Ter</th><th>To every series</th><th>Erqui</th></t<>	-	Ter	To every series	Erqui
and and a second sec	ett.	18	Theory Star Theory	C Dorgi
and and a second sec			Theorem (1) - Stellaws	
A December 12 Freed 1 Temperature 13 Freed 1 Temperature 10 Strippet 1 Temperature 10 Strippet			Second Life and	10100
Image: Second			Automatical sectors and and	
A December 12 Free de la construir d'arrest 15 Free de la construir 12 Free de la construir 12 Free de la construir 12 Free de la construir 13 Free de	-			
Image: Second			1007011111200	Concession (Concession)
Image: Construct of A Sector 1 Temperita II (Real 3 Temperita II (Real 4 Temperita II (Real 5 Temperita II (Real 6 Temperita II (Real 7 Temperita II (Real 8 Temperita II (Real 9 Temperita II (Real 1 Temperita II (R			Transfer Alfred Kon	5
Interface Interface 1 Tergentus 15, Food 2 Tergentus 12, Food 3 Tergentus 12, Food 4 Tergentus 12, Food 5 Tergentus 13, Food 6 Tergentus 13, Food 6 Tergentus 13, Food 7 Tergentus 13, Food 8 Tergentus 13, Food 9 Tergentus 13, Food 14 Tergentus 11, Food 15 Tergentus 11, Food 16 Tergentus 11, Food 17 Tergentus 11, Food 18 Tergentus 11, Food 19 Tergentus 11, Food 10 Tergentus 11, Food 11 Tergentus 11, Food 12 Tergentus 11, Food 13 Tergentus 11, Food 14 Tergentus 11, Food 15 Tergentus 11, Food 16 Tergentus 11, Food 17 Tergentus 11, Food 18 Tergentus 11, Food 19 Tergentus 11, Food 10			(Manager 1) is a low	
and generation 17 Freed 3 Treporties 12 Freed 4 Tresponders 12 Freed 5 Treporties 15 Freed 5 Treporties 15 Freed 9 Treporties 17 Fre	0	111	Transmissi 10, 24 april	
2 Internal 72 Mad 3 Internal 73 Mad 4 Internal 73 Mad 5 Internal 74 Mad 5 Internal 75 Mad 6 Internal 75 Mad 6 Internal 75 Mad 7 Internal 75 Mad 8 Internal 75	D.	1.11	Terrendua II - Fead	
A December 35 Real S December 35 Rea	P		Tencershare T2 - Poed	
A Telephone 15 Read Telephone 10 Re	0	- 10-	The product and the second sec	
C Treporter 17. Field C Treporter 1			Tangantus S. Const	
1 Temperatura 17. Field 8 Temperatura 17. Field 9 Temperatura 17. Field 10 Temperatura 17. Second 11 Temperatura 17. Second 11 Temperatura 17. Second 12 Temperatura 17. Second 13 Temperatura 17. Second 14 Temperatura 17. Second 15 Temperatura 17. Second 16 Temperatura 17. Second 17 Temperatura 17. Second 18 Temperatura 17. Second 19 Temperatura 17. Second 10 Temperatura 17. Second 10 Temperatura 17. Second 10 Temperatura 17. Second 11 Temperatura 17. Second	Ω.	- 21	Tenioralus II. Rad	
2 8 Tensenses 16 find 3 Tensenses 16 find 31 Tensenses 10 find 32 Tensenses 10 find 33 Tensenses 10 find 34 Tensenses 11 Second 5 3 Tensenses 12 Second 5 4 Tensenses 12 Second 5 4 Tensenses 12 Second 5 4 Tensenses 12 Second 5 5 Tensenses 12 Second 5 6 1 Tensenses 13 Second 5 7 Tensenses 15 Second 5 7 Tensen	80	- 17-	Temperature 17-Read	
2 3 Tengendus 17 Revi 10 10 Tengendus 10 Revi 10 10 Tengendus 10 Revi 10 10 Tengendus 11 Review 10 1 Tengendus 11 Review 10 1 Tengendus 11 Review 10 1 Tengendus 12 Review 10 1 Tengendus 12 Review 10 1 Tengendus 13 Review 10 1 Tengendus 15 Revi	p ::	18	Terumeter TI Foot	
30 Theyendres (10: filled and parts	0.5	1.8	Temperature 11 Food	
and junce tag tag tag tag tag tag tag tag	0	10	Terrenature (10 Read	
0 19 Personal 0 19 Personal 0 10 Personal 11 6 1 Personal 11 Personal 6 1 Personal 11 Personal 11 6 1 Personal 11 Personal 11 Personal 11 6 1 Personal 11 Personal Personal	100	16	10	1000
P 2 Temperate T2 is part 8 3 Temperate T2 is part 9 4 Temperate T3 is part 9 5 Temperate T3 is part 9 5 Temperate T3 is part 9 7 Temperate T3 is part 9 8 Temperate T3 is part 9 9 1 Temperate T3 is part 9 9 1 Temperate T3 is part 9 9 1 Temperate T3 is part 9 1 Temperate T3 is part	(D	- 18	Antonio Campania Tr. Estadore	
6 3 Tenjourus 13 Lei part 6 4 Tenjourus 14, Lei part 6 5 Tenjourus 13, Lei part 7 6 5 8 5 Tenjourus 13, Lei part 7 6 5 8 5 Tenjourus 13, Lei part 7 6 5 8 5 Tenjourus 14, Lei part 7 5 Tenjourus 15, Lei part 7 5 Tenjourus 16, Ser part 7 10 Tenjourus 10, Ser part	580	1.2	Temperature 12 - In conv	
P 4 Temperatur 5 - Ke point P 5 Temperatur 5 - Ke point P 6 Temperatur 7 - Ke point P 7 Temperatur 7 - Ke point P 8 Temperatur 7 - Ke point P 9 Temperatur 7 - Ke point P 10 Temperatur 7 - Ke point	58	- 3	Tersteitus 12. Le part	Delate ga
P 5 Important 5 in poor 5 5 Important 5 in poor 5 5 Important 5 in poor 6 10 Important 5 in poor 6 10 Important 5 in poor 6 10 Important 5 in poor 6 Important 5 Import 6 Important 5 Import 7 Import	5P	¥	Teroperature F4-164 point	
р - 1 терения 13 на ций Р - 1 терения 13 на ций Р - 3 Терения 13 на ций Р - 3 Терения 13 на ций Р - 10 Терения 13 на ций Р - 10 Терения 10 Selptin	CD.	- 22	Temple plan (3-14) port	
P 0 Temporarie To Leo port P 3 Temporarie To Leo port P 18 Temporarie To Sel part	SP-		Tendensker 17 - Let work	
P 3 Temperatur 13 Serpert P 18 Temperatur 110 Selpert	5.85	1.0	Temperature 78 - Est point	
P 18 Tempotetur TIO-Sel port	5/h		Temperature 19 - Ser port	
	SP-	1.10	Hengoverum 110. Sei gani	

To add gates to the group, just select the top and click the "Add gates" button: the selected gates will thus added to the current group.

and the second second	int	Gas Deceptor Search	
	Two:	l Receive	i 2
-			
<u></u>	- 15	Telepidere 12 - Set poor	
	100	Temperature of proven	A51 @
	- 27	Conservation of the second	
2	- 920-	Temperature 12 - Set 2007	1.61.0
		A STATE OF	Cinter Content
		The second se	
		Tangen may 74, Set tops	
	10	Tarbard at 10 Carbor	
6	- 140	Patientics IV Date	
0		Determine T/ Read	
0		Thereastics 23, Blast	
0		Testimetry 16 Days	
Dr.'		Tangendary 55, Paget	
n -		Testimates 12 Based	
<u> </u>		Telephone T. Bare	
0	1.0	Taning day to Back	
	1.4	Tangana ang Pang	
0 0	2.44	Theorem and the second	
64 T	10	12	1
	- 19	A SOCIETIES A CONTRACTOR OF A CONT	
241		Temperature 11 - het poer	
10		Temperature 12 - 10 parts	Onlaite :
100		The second se	0220202
		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
		1 1 1000 1210 12 12 1800	
<u>61</u>	1.4.0	Manufactory Constraints	
83		H L MARINAN L M SOURCE	
SP	1.5	Temperature 13 - Set port	
581		Temporanae T10 - Sel port	

To delete the gates included in the group, shall be selected and then press the "Delete gate" button.

3.3 Recipes Management

You can create a new recipe from both the menu from the popup menu that appears when you click the right mouse button (in the right, the one containing the recipes) you can create a new recipe. This creates a recipe with a default name (new recipe) which can be immediately changed. The structure of the new recipe is derived from that of the parent model and can not be changed. Before creating a new recipe you should always select a model from which to derive it.

12	Recipe Manager	
Recipe search		Next
Model	Recipe <u>V</u> iew	
Configuration recipes		
Last recipe imported: C Last recipe sent: C	urve2 [10/02/2016 12:53:11] urve1 [10/02/2016 12:53:00]	
		Close

Once you create a new recipe, it can be opened by double clicking the left mouse button or by selecting the "*Edit*" option from the Recipes menu or Popup menu that appears by right-clicking the mouse.

The changes allowed concerning the gates values (by importing them or modifying them manually) and remark.

		111111/10/06	
X22211			
COAPVIE 127-5	Deta 1	0-0	
Contract of Contra	tere :-	2.9 (7.89)	
Apec pees			
10.8		Laboration and the second s	define - Paka
12	- M	Crickton.	Ville Us
\$85		Temperature FE - Der polié	1
MP.		Temperalule 72 - Set point	11 X
10		Temperature 11 - Ser port	27 . <u>88</u>
98.	- 12 -	Temperature 7.8 - Set point	
58	-3-	Temperature 15 - Sirk powr	
10		Temperature F8 - Set poet	
10		Temperature 17 Dat post	
10		Terepeter 18 for our	100 C
40	1.00	Teacourt is 100 for the	
		- CA (DED 651) CAUSO)	

Gates values (fourth column) can also be entered manually by simply double clicking on the value.

"*Import*" button: import in the recipe the current values of the gates that compose it, and save them to disk.

"Send" button lets you to set as current gates values, the values stored in the recipe. If the gates to which are assigned the new values have the "Enable writing to device" option enabled then the assigned value will be automatically sent to the paired device.

The "Print" button makes printing of the recipe gates list.

4 Supervision

4.1 Introduction

The supervision section allows to monitor the present status of the process, change its variables and analyse its historical data.

More in details:

Template : it allows opening of all the synoptics of the application.

Status: functions relating to the current state of the process.

- Alarms status
- Events status
- Gates status
- System status
- Devices status

Historical: functions relating to the historical data of the process.

- · Historical alarms
- Historical events
- Historical user changes

Charts: online tracking and historical graphs.

4.2 Template

The template is the information exchange interface between the operator and the system. Template can then show a schematic drawing of the system or part of it, showing the status of the process variables and the possible alarm situations, or may represent a data entry window to allow the operator to act directly on the process variables .

Each application can have one or more templates, built by the application developer by using *Template Builder* tool.

In *Runtime* can be active simultaneously up to 8 templates and you can open a template via the menu item *Supervision | Template.*

Here are some examples:













Varm output AL1 (AL o.1) PV1 (FIL1.) AL mask PV2 (FIL2.)	Alarm output AL2 (AL o.2) PV1 (Fill 1) Al mask PV		Alarm output AL3 (AL o 3)	
PV1 (FIL 1.) AI. mask PV2 (FIL 2.)	PV1 IFIL 1 1AL mask PV		AUTOMODIA (2010) 2010 (2010) 2010 (2010) 410	
Low alarm	AND MATERIAL CONSISTENCY OF	2 (FIL 2.)	PV1 (FIL 1.) AL mask P	V2(FIL2)
	C Low alarm	1	Low alarm	1
T High alarm 🗐	Figh alarm		F High alarm	1
🗐 Minimum alarm 🗌	Minimum alarm	1	Minimum alarn	6 J
🗂 Maximum alarm	Maximum alarm		Maximum alam	в Г
📫 Sentor break alarm 🗖	🖉 Sensor break alar	m 「	🖉 Sensor break al	em 🔽
General alarms mask (FIL.G.)	General alarms mask (FIL	G)	General alams mask (FIL	.G.)
Communication alarm	Communication alarr	n	Communication alar	ita -
E*PROM memory alarm	EPROM memory ala	rm	EIPROM memory a	larm
🖵 Output 1 program cycle	🗂 Output 1 program cy	cle	🔲 Output 1 program o	ycle :
T Output 2 program cycle	C Dutput 2 program cy	cle	Cutput 2 program c	ycle
T End program cycle	End program cycle		F End program cycle	
uct. filter (A.FIL.) [s]	Act. Riter (A.FIL.) [s]	0	Act. filter (A.FIL.) [s]	0
Veact. filter (d.FIL.) [s]	Deact. filter (d.FIL.) (s)	0	Deact. filter (d.Fil) [s]	8
l output (out.) 🛛 none (nonE) 💽	AL output (out.) none (r	ionE) 🛨	Al. output (out.) none	(nonE)
d st, NA (Cont. no.oP rEtE na) 💌	AL st. NA (Cont. no. oP IEte	no) 💌	AL st. NA (Cont. no.oP rEt	E no)

4.3 Alarms Status

The "*Event and Alarm*" is a particular gate to which it is associated a message to display or record each time the condition associated with it is verified.

Simply by specifying the "*Alarm type*" in the "*General*" tab you can define whether the gate is kind of event or alarm. Regardless of whether it is of type event or alarm, management is almost similar: both you can specify a trigger condition, a time filter, a mode to withholding and file saving history. For both it is also possible to obtain the situation of events and alarms that are currently active through the use of the "*Alarms / Event View*" object of the *Template Builder* and view the historic via the "*HistAlarmsView*" object.

The only difference is that when a gate defined as "*Alarm Type*" became active, its message will be shown on a red background in the status bar at the bottom of the screen to inform the operator as soon as possible, regardless from the page of supervising shown at that time.

Some examples of events can be: "Machine start", "Machine stop", "Start production", "End production", while some examples of alarms can be: "Overtemperature alarm", "Emergency", "Alarm inverter protection", etc.

This window shows the list of active alarms, to be confirmed and excluded. This window can also be inserted into a template through the *Template Builder* tool and selecting the *AlarmsView* object.

ctive	Ack	Message	Date	Time	Class 1	Class 2	Toleck	Exclu.
2		Zona T2 / A1 : Temperatura alta	11/02/2016	15:50-30	T.	high	*	
*	here ;	Zona T5 / A2: Temperatura alta	11/02/2014	15:50:30	2	high:	*	1.
×		Zona T7 / A3: Temperatura alta	11/02/2016	15:50:30	3	high	*	×
	-	Zona 197 AS: Temperatura atta	11/02/2016	15:50.30	4	high.		- 14
ĸ.	Ack	Zona T11 / A7 / Temperature alta	11/02/2016	15-90-30		high.		
8		Zone T12 / Ab Temperature alta	11/02/2016	13:50:30	更い	high	*	1.4
8		Zona T14 / A8:: Temperatura alta	1/02/2016	15:50:30		high	×	
×.		Zona T16 / A10 : Temperatura alta	\$1/02/2016	15:30:30	10-	Fugh	*	1.1
*	-	Zona T38 / A11 - Temperatura alta	11/02/2516	15:50:30	11.	high	*	1

If Toolbar is enabled, the presence of active alarms or active events will be indicated by a red exclamation mark on the alarm status icon (4) or event status icon (4) that, when pressed, will open the window above.

Each line of the list is an alarm or an event; the columns have the following meaning: **Active**: an X indicates that the alarm is still active.

Ack: an X indicates that the alarm has been acknowledged by the operator.

Message: show the message associated to the alarm.

Date and Time: date and time from the activation of the alarm.

Class 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7: alarm membership classes.

To ack: is marked by an X if the alarm requires a confirmation by the operator to be deleted from the list once it is no longer active.

Excluded: it is marked with an X if the alarm has been ruled out by the operator. The alarms remain excluded in the list until they are enabled. This attribute is lost when you exit the current session of *Runtime*.

Each line can have one of the following colors: **Red**: the alarm is still active **Blue**: the alarm is no longer active but needs confirmation **Black**: the alarm was excluded

After pressing the "Sort" button, the window below will open, where you can choose a criterion by which to order the alarm list.

	Sort	
Date and time		ОК
	Ascending	Cancel
	C Descending	

The selectable criteria are: Date & Time, Class 1, Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Class 5, Class 6, Class 7 and Message.

If you hit the "*Filter*" button the following window will open, in which you can specify filters on the display of alarms by adjusting the available classes.

	Filtro		
10	-	Class 1	
high	•	Class 2	
		OK	Annulla

If you hit the "Confirm" button, the selected alarm will be confirmed. It is also possible to confirm it by double clicking on the row.

4.4 Events status

Refer to Alarms status for more details.

4.5 **Gates Status**

By selecting this item it is possible to show the status of the gates. It will be shown the window in figure.

0				.0	ates status	ana (A)
Type	Channel		Device	_	'Name' field filter	
Numeric	(ail)	3	(all)			Apply
(* Decimal	(° Hexa	decimal	C Binary			
fd	Nid	Value			Description	×
0 TIV	0	900.0			Temperature T1 - Read	11 and 12 and
O TZV	0	1000.0			Temperature T2 - Read	. 80
172A	0	1000.0			Temperature T2 - Set point	
0 T3V	0	1050.0			Temperature T3 - Read	
14V	0	1100.0			Temperature T4 - Set point	
¥ 15V	0	1200.0			Temperature T5 - Read	
TSA .	0	1200.0			Temperature T5 - Set point	
¥ 76V	0	1250.0			Temperature T6 - Read	
V 17V	0	1250.0			Temperature T7 - Read	
- T7A	Ó	1250.0			Temperature T7 - Set point	
V87 **	0	1300.0			Temperature T8 + Read	
¥ 19V	0	1300.0			Temperature T9 - Read	
ART 🐦	0	1300.0			Temperature T9 - Set point	
V TIOV	0	1300.0			Temperature T10 - Read	
V TIGA	0	1300.0			Temperature T10 - Set point	
- T11V	0	1250.0			Temperature T11 - Read	
ATTA V	0	1250.0			Temperature T11 - Set point	
V T12V	0	1250.0			Temperature T12 - Read	
V TIZA	0	1250.0			Temperature T12 - Set point	
VETT **	0	3250.0			Temperature T13 - Read	
🖌 T13A	0	1250.0			Temperature T13 - Set point	
V T14V	0	1100.0			Temperature T14 - Read	
¥ T14A	0	1100.0			Temperature T14 - Set point	
V T15V	8	1100.0			Temperature T15 - Read	
V TIEV	D	1050.0			Temperature T16 - Read	
V T16A	0	1050.0			Temperature T16 - Set point	
¥ 717Y	0	1050.0			Temperature T17 - Read	
TIBY	0	1000.0			Temperature T18 - Read	
TISA	0	1000.0			Temperature T18 - Set point	
V T19V	0	950.0			Temperature T19 + Read	

The dialog box allows to select: the type of gates to show, the channel and the device. The sampling status is indicated by the icon v or beside every gate. To have more details on the status and properties of every single gate you just need to select the corresponding row and press the *Gate*

Property button or double click on the row of the gate: it will be shown the window in next figure.

Descalation		
Description		
Temperature T2	-Read	
Properties		Flags
Name	T2V	Record on DB True
ID	0	Write on Dev. False
Channel	1	Sampling Always
Device	1	Block False
Address	3:1	L
Pages in Monitor	2	1 Mar 21
Access Group		value
Value Type	Double	1000
Molt. Fact.	1	
Somm. Fact.	0	390
Decimal Digits	1	
Min. Val.	0	OK
Max. Val.	2000	
Tolerance	0	Cancel
Sampl. Freq.	1 Sec.	
Reading State	ко	
Writing State	OK	

If Toolbar is enabled, the presence of at least one gate communication alarm will be indicated by a red exclamation mark on the Gates status icon **6**.

4.6 System status

	Syste	em status		
Machine				
Name HelpManuals		IP address 10.10.10.10		
Common status			26 26 20	
	Address	Total	Sampled	
Numeric gates	ОК	972	4	
Digital gates	OK	81	0	
String gates	OK	1	0	
Compound gates	OK	11		
Alarm/event gates		22		
icence				
Type W-Net /I+		Total sampled gates	4	
Validity OK		Total devices	1	
hannels status		Historical files		
Channel 0	Protocol	Numeric gates	OK	
		Digital gates	OK	
Gates sampling	OK	String gates	OK	
Status		Alarm/event gates	ОК	
Reading errors		User changes	ОК	
Writing errors		Disk space	ОК	
Details	Reset			

In this window are shown some general information about the application; more in details:

Station - Name : name associated to the computer.

Station IP address: IP address associated to the computer.

Common status - Address : if it is **KO** means that there is almost a numeric, digital or string sampled gate with a wrong address (not congruent with the communication protocol selected).

Common status - Total : total number of numeric, digital, string, event or compound gates.

Common status - Sampled : total number of numeric, digital, string sampled gates.

Licence - Type : Name of the software licence

Licence - Validity : if it is **KO** means that the application it is not enabled to run with the current licence type.

Total sampled gates : total number sampled gates in the application.

Total devices: total number of devices in the application.

Channel - Protocol : show the configuration parameters of the communication protocol selected.

Channel - Gates sampling : if it is **KO** means that no sampling is active on that channel. it can be due to the fact that there are some sampled gates with wrong address, or the application it is not congruent with the current licence type.

Channel - Channel status : if it is **KO** means that communication channel it it not opened. Usually it is due to the fact that the hardware is not ready or is already in use from another application.

Channel - Writing errors : number of writing errors on the selected channel.

Channel - Reading errors: number of reading errors on the selected channel.

Channel - Detail : additional details about errors (available only for particulars protocols).

Channel - Reset: reset writing and reading errors on the selected channel.

Historical files - Numeric gates : if it is KO means that can't open the numeric gates historical file.
Historical files - Digital gates : if it is KO means that can't open the digital gates historical file.
Historical files - String gates : if it is KO means that can't open the string gates historical file.
Historical files - Event gates : if it is KO means that can't open the event gates historical file.
Historical files - User changes : if it is KO means that can't open the user changes historical file.
Historical files - User changes : if it is KO means that can't open the user changes historical file.
Historical files - Disk space : if it is KO means that is active the Disk full alarm.

4.7 Devices Status

RunTime allows to show the communication status of every device, in fact, any writing or reading errors by everyone of them are shown. When the device is not answering any demand, its status is considered KO and the corresponding row will be displayed in red. It is also possible to reset any errors.

The presence of some anomalies is indicated by a red exclamation mark on the status icon of the devices on the bottom left (2.).

	Reset COM em	694 C			
		part.			
ouble click or SPACE bar = Enab	le/disable device scanning				
Device	Description	Status	Write etrois	Read errors	Scanning
Channel 1 - Device 1	Siemens \$7-1200 Station 1	OK	0	Ð	Enabled
Channel 1 - Device 2	Siemens 57-1200 Station 2	OK	0	0	Enabled
Chunnel 1 + Device 3	Siemens S7-1200 Station 3	:OK	-0	Ó	Enabled
Channel 2 - Device 1	Mitsubishi FX 3GE - 24M Station 1	OK	0	Ð	Enabled
Channel 2 - Device 2	Mitsubishi FX 3GE - 24M Station 2	OK	0	0	Enabled
Channel 2 - Device 3	Mitsubishi FX 3GE - 24M Station 3	OK	0	0	Enabled.
Channel 3 - Device 1	10L0G \$5-3014	OK	o	D	Enabled
Channel 3 - Device 2	IOLOG 55-3015-1	OK	0	0	Enabled
Channel 3 - Device 3	10L06 55-3016-TC	OK	0	0	Enabled

4.8 Historical Alarms

The "*Event and Alarm*" is a particular gate to which it is associated a message to display or record each time the condition associated with it is verified.

Simply by specifying the "*Alarm type*" in the "*General*" tab you can define whether the gate is kind of event or alarm. Regardless of whether it is of type event or alarm, management is almost similar: both you can specify a trigger condition, a time filter, a mode to withholding and file saving history. For both it is also possible to view the historic via the "*HistAlarmsView*" object.

The only difference is that when a gate defined as "*Alarm Type*" became active, its message will be shown on a red background in the status bar at the bottom of the screen to inform the operator as soon as possible, regardless from the page of supervising shown at that time.

Some examples of events can be: "Machine start", "Machine stop", "Start production", "End production", while some examples of alarms can be: "Overtemperature alarm", "Emergency", "Alarm inverter protection", etc.

Through the following window you can see the alarm history.

This window can also be inserted into a template through the *Template Builder* tool and selecting the *HistAlarmsView* object.

G His	torical alarms	6				0.0	
Config Filter Print Save CSV	J						
Messaggio	Data di inizio	Ora di Inizio	Data di fine	Ora di fine	Classe 1	Classe 2	
Zone T5 / A2 : Low temperature	11/02/2016	09.42:26	11/02/2016	09:42:27	1	low	
Zone T7 / A3 : Low temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:26	11/02/2016	09:42:27	3	low	
Zone T11 / A7 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:26	11/02/2016	09:42:27	6	high	
Supervisor start session	11/02/2016	09:42:26	1.000	0.000		1.1411	
Zone T12 / A6: High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:26	11/02/2016	09:42:27	7	high	
Zone T14 / A8 ; High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:26	11/02/2016	09:42:27	9	high	
Zone T2 / A3 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	11/02/2016	09:43:05	3	high	
Zone T5 / A2 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35			2	high	
Zone T7 / A3 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35			3	high	
Zone T9 / A5 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	444	1	4	high	
Zone T10 / A4 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	11/02/2016	09:42:53	5	high	
Zone T11 / A7: High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	11/02/2016	09-43:13	6	high	
Zone T12 / A6 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	2446		7	high	
Zone T13 / A9 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	11/02/2016	09:42:41	8	high	
Zone T14 / A8 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	11/02/2016	09:42:57	9	high	
Zone T16 / A10: High temperature	11/02/2016	09.42:35	10033540412	2 4 4 4 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	10	high	
Zone T18 / A11 : High temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:35	11/02/2016	09:43:01	11	high	
Zone T13 / A9 : Low temperature	11/02/2016	09:42:55	11/02/2016	09:43:01	8	low	
Zone T10 / A4 : Low temperature	11/02/2016	09:43:07			5	1cm	
Zone T14 / A3 : Low temperature	11/02/2016	09:43:11			9	Idwy	
Zone T13 / A9: High temperature	11/02/2016	09:43:15			8	high	
Zone T18 / A11 : Low temperature	11/02/2016	09:43:15		Birth C	11	tow	
Supervisor close tession	11/02/2016	09:43:15	444	1.000		10.00	

Pressing the "Configure" button, you can set the time interval for which you want to see the alarm log.

year	month	day	hour	minute	secon
016	2 -	11	0 -	0 -	0

If you hit the "*Filter*" button the following window will open, in which you can specify filters on the display of alarms by adjusting the available classes.

	Filtro
10	✓ Class 1
high	✓ Class 2
	OK Annulla

The "Print" button makes printing of the alarms included in the specified time.

The button "Save CSV" saves a CSV file of the alarms included in the specified time.

4.9 Historical Events

Refer to Historical Alarms for more details.

4.10 User changes

All operator interaction with the system of supervision, such as password authentication, sending recipes or modifying individual set point values are recorded by the system itself. Through the following window you can see the list of these interventions.

This window can also be inserted into a template through the Template Builder tool and selecting the *OperatorView* object.

25		Use	r changes hist	orical	
Config	Print	Save CSV			
Code Start Recipe Recipe Num Gate	User	Date 12/02/2016 12/02/2016 12/02/2016 12/02/2016	Time 10:52:51 10:53:11 10:53:13 10:53:35	Message Start supervision session Executed: Curve1.rcf Modified: Curve1 T10A 0: 1300 => 1302	

Pressing the "Configure" button, you can set the time interval for which you want to see the user changes log.

year	month	day	hour	minute	secon
2016	2 ÷	11 🛨	0 ÷	0 ÷	0 -
<u> </u>	1 1		· · · · · ·	° - 1	U
me range					
days	hours	minute	s secon	ds	
0.4	10 -		-	-	
U	+ 10 -	1 + 4]	· + · ·	-	

The "Print" button makes printing of the user changes log included in the specified time.

The button "Save CSV" saves a CSV file of the user changes log included in the specified time.

4.11 Multilanguage

4.11.1 Introduction

Often presents the need of having to develop the same application in different languages, for ease of use by the end user. However it is not necessary to generate multiple copies of the same application and then proceed with the translation for each of them; through the instrument *Multilanguage Editor* is possible to equip a single application of the multilanguage support and then associate it up to a maximum of 10 languages.

Via the *Supervision | Language ...* menu item you can select the real-time language in which to display your application without the need to restart it.

		_

Refers to Multilanguage Editor guide for help about translations creation process in the various languages.

4.12 Charts

4.12.1 Introduction

This page allows you to view as a graph tracing the trend of process variables versus time.



Figure 1

This window can also be inserted into a template through the *Template Builder* tool and selecting the *Chart* object: the object's extended configurability allows you to reach the most graphic result close to the developer's requirements. Here are some examples of Chart items included in Templates.

anner (1 feet Breaker (1 feet Breaker)	No real control of the second	
	ě –	
	× ~ .	
	× 1	
	201 301 001	

Referring to figure 1, we can notice the presence of:

- A legend, in the top left, which shows the color and the name of the gate of each track. By double-clicking on it you can change the current group (this change is not permanent).
- A cursor window, showing the value of the Y coordinate of each curve at the vertical line positioned by the mouse on the chart plot.
- The buttons **I b b** that let you move the time axis.
- The button lets you undo the graph zoom performed by holding down the left mouse button and moving the cursor to define a rectangular area to be magnified.
- The button ______ that takes you back to the current date time display.
- The button "Groups" which allows the creation or selection of a graphic group.
- The button "*Time axis*" that allows you to set the time interval for which you want to see the graphic pattern
- The button "Aspect" that allows you to configure the appearance of the plotted curves.

4.12.2 Groups

A **chart group** is a list of maximum 10 gates that will be drawn together in the same **Chart** object. It can be composed of numerical, digital or composed gates. Trough the following window it is possible to manage the the chart groups list.

Charts confi	gurazione
ile name filter	
	Filter
8	New
All Zone Temperature	
Zone Temperature T1	wopy
Zone Temperature 12	Rename
	Delete
	Modify
	Default
	View
	Help
	Close

Select no chart group.

I default chart group - this group will be automatically showed in the chart object if it has no group defined.

File name filter : apply a filter to the chart groups list showing only files that verify the filter rule.

New : create a new empty chart group

Copy : copy an existing chart group

Rename : rename an existing chart group

Delete : delete an existing chart group

Modify : add or modify chart group gates list (Group definition)

Default : set or reset the default chart group

Select : close the window and return the selected chart group to the caller window.

View : close the window and tell to the chart object to trace the selected chart group.

Close: close the window

4.12.3 Group definition

A **chart group** is a list of maximum 10 gates that will be drawn together in the same **Chart** object. It can be composed of numerical, digital or composed gates.

The following dialog box allows to add or remove gates, choose curve colors and the minimum and maximum values of the vertical axis.

	Zone Temperature	e T2		*
Gate	Celor	Y min	Y max	+ +
NUM,T2A,0 NUM,T2V,0		800 800	1300 1300	Add
				Dateta
				Modify
				Ok
				Cancel
				Help

Add : add a new curve to the group. Delete : remove the selected curve from the group. Modify : modify the selected curve

NUM,T2V,0 800 1300 Add NUM,T2V,0 800 1300 Add Dulete Modify Ok Cancel Help	Gate	Celor	Y min	Y max	4
Add curve	NUM,T2A,0 NUM,T2V,0		800 800	1300 1300	bbA
Add curve					Delete
Ok Cancel Help					Modify
Cancel Help					Ok.
Add curve					Cancel
Add curve					Help
	Add curve	22	2225	10	1 22 1
			5 - 16	00	Cancel

When **Add** or **Modify** button is pressed, the following window will be shown:

Click on "..." to select the gate that will be associated to the curve. Click on curve **color** to select the color that will be associated to the curve. **Y min** : specify the minimum value of the vertical axis for this curve. **Y max** : specify the maximum value of the vertical axis for this curve.

4.12.4 Time Axis

Through the window in figure, it is possible to indicate the start date and time, and the time interval (minimum 6 seconds) that will form the times axis in the chart.

Start date 8	l time				
year	month	day	hour	minute	second
2018	2 -	15	14 -	45 -	0 ÷
			A		
Time range					
davs	hours	minute	c secon	de	
uays	- India				
0 =	+ 1 🚊	+ 0 -	러 + 0	Ξ	

4.12.5 Aspect

Through the window in figure, you can display a grid, highlight the sampled dots, change the thickness of the stroke and the type of interpolation between sampled dots:

Aspec	t configuration	×
 Show grid Show points Show points 	Interpolation C None C Stair C Combine C Point to p	d point
	ОК	Cancel

It is also possible to set the type of interpolation between dots. More in details:

Interpolation - None: only the sampled dots are shown



Interpolation - Stair: the dots are connected by a vertical and a horizontal line



Interpolation - Point to point: the dots are connected by an oblique line



Interpolation - Combined: The points are joined with one or more lines taking account of the sampling time of the gate.



5 Reports

5.1 Introduction

Runtime allows to draw up, display and print reports configured with *Project Manager*. Every time there is a need for a new report, *Runtime* interprets the basic file and creates a new file containing the assessment of all the expressions in the report.

5.2 How to Draw up a Report

The operator can create a report whenever he wants by simply selecting his name and pressing the *Ok* button.

	Create report	×
Select report to create		
Production		
	Create	e Close

Runtime, according to the current status, creates a new file, displays it and automatically prints it, if the configuration contemplates for this.

Runtime, will create a disk file based on the selected report template and substituting the fields specified with the current gates values. This report can also be automatically displayed or sent to the printer.

5.3 How to Show a Historical Report

Every type of report can have a certain number of historical files defined in the configuration (See: *Project Manager*). It is possible to save particular reports in order to keep them, avoiding the overwriting from new generated reports.

There are two possible windows to show generated reports:

View report			-0-
lame	Creation date	Type	Actions
Maintenance.001 Maintenance.002 Production.001 Production.002	lunedi 15 febbraio 2016 - 15:09:25 mercoledi 10 febbraio 2016 - 12:49:28 lunedi 15 febbraio 2016 - 15:09:25 mercoledi 10 febbraio 2016 - 12:49:28	Maintenance Maintenance Production Production	Fortune Dolete
			View
			Template

In this first type, reports are organized in a table where for each one is specified its name, the creation time and the type.

0	View report		
Production	Mame Maintenance.001 Maintenance.002	Creation date funedi 15 febbraio 2016 - 15:09:25 mercoledi 10 febbraio 2016 - 12:49:28	Actions Rename Balens View
Show reports type			Report Template

In this second type, reports are organized in a three window that shows report type (on the left) and a table where for each one is specified its name and the creation time.

To simplify the search, it is possible to sort the table according to one of the properties of a report: just click on the corresponding column header. Name and type sorting are increasing, while the time sort is decreasing, so the last created report will be in the first line.

In the first column are shown the name of the reports: the names that have an extension such as .001, .002, ... are belonging to the circular list of the historical. When a new report is created, this will be named with the extension .001, the others will shift of one position and the last (the older one) will be lost. To avoid the loss of a report with the creation of new one, it is possible to rename it: the report will be kept also when the list is full. To rename just select it and use press the *Rename* button. By pressing the *Delete* button it is possible to delete the selected reports.

By pressing the *Report* button, will be shown the selected report.

Using the *Template* button, the template with the name equal to the type of the report selected in the table will be shown (if exists). If the report has in the first two lines a date and time of start and a date and time of end (e.g. to be meant as a start and end of a production lot), just before the template opens, automatically, will be called up the functions *ChartSetTimeRange* and *HistViewSetTimeRange* (see). Doing so it is possible to show in the template the graph variables and the alarms' historical both related to the temporal window defined in the report.

The format of the date and time of start and end of the report is (they must be in the first two lines of the report):

gg/mm/aaaa	-	hh:mm:ss	date	and	time	of	start
gg/mm/aaaa	-	hh:mm:ss	date	and	time	of	end

For the two lines, after the specification of the seconds, it is possible to write whatever you like, e.g.:

15/02/2000	-	08:42:10	Start l	Lot
15/02/2000	-	10:12:22	End lot	-

To easily write dates and times, it is possible to use the Code Builder function ReportLotTime (see Code Builder).

6 Macros

6.1 Introduction

Often, in a supervision project, comes the need to carry out special operations to the fulfillment of certain conditions or upon user request. Some examples may be the perform a calculation of a complex formula, send mail or SMS, read or write text files, operate directly on the port values, manipulate some of the synoptic objects currently in view, etc.

By Code Builder, the application developer can create these functions and they will have the following structure:

Function void MyTestFunction()

```
...
...
end
```

If in the next line the name of the function, you enter the #Macro directive, as in the examples below,

```
Function void MyTestFunction()
```

```
#Macro
```

end

then this function will appear, during *Runtime*, in the list of functions available in the *Macros* menu item.

These functions can then be called up directly by the operator and does not support the use of the input parameters.

7 User access

7.1 Introduction

Runtime allows to limit the access and the changes in the pages to the authorized operators only, thanks to its own protection system. In fact, it's possible to associate with each operator a name, a password, and give to him a certain set of authorizations (groups); so you can define the groups that can access and modify the *Runtime* pages.

7.2 Insertion of the Access Code

By selecting the item *User access | Login...* menu item you can insert the user name and his password. This way all the rights concerning the use of *supervisor software* will be available.

lisername	
Dacoword	
Password	

To disconnect the current user and come back to operator = "None", you just need to select the item User access | Logout...

7.3 Users definition

By selecting *User access | Definition | Operators* menu item the following window appears where you can add, edit or delete an operator to / from the list of those that are allowed to access the system.

Main Nasa1	Add
User2 User3	Edit
	Remove
	OK

You can define an unlimited number of operators with their passwords and membership groups. To do this, the dialog in the next figure will be used.

redentials	Groups		
lsername			
1	☐ Supervisor	🖵 Gruppo 9	
Password	T Maintenance	F Gruppo 10	
	C Operator	🗁 Gruppo 11	
	Gruppo 4	☐ Gruppo 12	
	ſ [™] Gruppo 5	F Gruppo 13	
	🗂 Gruppo 6	☐ Gruppo 14	
	🗂 Gruppo 7	🖵 Gruppo 15	
	🖵 Gruppo 8		

Simply plug in their respective fields: the name of the operator, his personal password and select groups.

Once entered the data, by pressing the OK button, the operator will be added to the list of *Runtime* operators. For the name and password does not differentiate between upper and lower case letters, and you can not have more operators with the same name.

7.4 Groups definition

By selecting *User access | Definition | Groups names...* menu item the following window appears where you can personalize the groups by giving them some names (maximum12 characters). This way their management will be easier and more intuitive.

Supervisor	Group 1	Gruppo 9	Group 9
Maintenance	Group 2	Gruppo 10	Group 10
Operator	Group 3	Gruppo 11	Group 11
Gruppo 4	Group 4	Gruppo 12	Group 12
Gruppo 5	Group 5	Gruppo 13	Group 13
Gruppo 6	Group 6	Gruppo 14	Group 14
Gruppo 7	Group 7	Gruppo 15	Group 15
Gruppo 8	Group 8		

For example, it is possible to give the groups a geographic or functional meaning of the supervised process, indicate whether the various operators can or cannot access only the parts they are skilled in, award the groups a professional figure such as: *Engineer, Technologist, Operator* etc., each of them with different change and access rights.

Press the OK button to save your choices; Cancel, on the contrary, closes the dialog box without updating it with the changes.

The 15 groups are independent and there is no hierarchy between them: if an operator belongs to the group 13, it NOT inherit the authorizations of the following groups 14 and 15.

7.5 Definition of the Access rights to Pages

By selecting the menu item *User access | Definition | Access pages* ... the following window appears in which you can assign to different groups the ability to access and / or modify the *Runtime* pages.

File	Access		2000-en 10-2
Printer setup	Supervisor	🖵 Gruppo 6	🗂 Gruppo 11
Eoit	🔽 Maintenance	🖵 Gruppo 7	☐ Gruppo 12
Hecipe Supervision Report Status Password Template	C Operator	🗂 Gruppo 8	🖵 Gruppo 13
	☐ Gruppo 4	🗁 Gruppo 9	🖵 Gruppo 14
	☐ Gruppo 5	☐ Gruppo 10	🖵 Gruppo 15
	Modification		
	☐ Supervisor	🔽 Gruppo 6	☐ Gruppo 11
	T Maintenance	🖵 Gruppo 7	🖵 Gruppo 12
	C Operator	🗁 Gruppo 8	☐ Gruppo 13
	☐ Gruppo 4	🗂 Gruppo 9	🖵 Gruppo 14
	☐ Gruppo S	🗁 Gruppo 10	🗆 Gruppo 15

On the left side there are the *Runtime* menu items. Selecting an item, on the right side will appear the respective access groups and authorized change or not; if the page has not selected groups, it will be accessible and / or editable by everyone.

To close the window confirming the changes, press the *OK* button, or press *Cancel* to cancel the changes.

8 Windows Management

8.1 Introduction

During Runtime you can open up to eight windows at once.

You can arrange the windows using the commands in the *Window* menu item. This menu also contains the list of all templates opened so as to facilitate their activation (for example return templates in the foreground that are no longer visible).

The *Window | Cascade* menu item has windows on top of each other with a certain offset from the upper left side; This allows you to see all open windows titles at the time.

The *Window | Tile* menu item has the windows next to each other resizing them, if possible, in a timely manner.

The *Window | Arrange* icons menu item has all the icons of the minimized windows in an orderly manner at the bottom left.